#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
United States District Nov. 22 2019 02:35 p.m for the District of Nevadarabeth A. Brown Case No. 2:15-cv-00321
<ul> <li>United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth</li> <li>Circuit:</li> <li>Case Nos. 17-16265</li> <li>17-16272</li> <li>17-16273</li> </ul>
) ) )

## **NAUTILUS INSURANCE COMPANY'S OPENING BRIEF**

Gil Glancz (Bar No. 9813) Linda Wendell Hsu (CA Bar No. 162971) (Pro Hac Vice Pending) Peter W. Bloom (CA Bar No. 313507) (Pro Hac Vice Pending) Selman Breitman LLP 3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 Telephone: 702.228.7717

Attorneys for Appellant

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This case presents a legal question certified to this Court under NRAP 5 by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in Nautilus Insurance Company v. Access Medical, LLC et al. No. 17-16264, No. 17-16272, No. 17-16273, and D.C. No. 2:15-cv-00321-JAD-GWF (hereafter "Nautilus Ins. Co. v. Access Medical). Joint Appendix, Vol. VI, Page 01052 (hereafter "Jt. App'x, Vol. \_\_, p. \_\_"). Under NRAP 5(a), this Court "may answer questions of law certified to it by . . . a Court of Appeals of the United States . . . when requested by the certifying court, if there are involved in any proceeding before those courts questions of law of this state which may be determinative of the cause then pending in the certifying court and as to which it appears to the certifying court there is no controlling precedent in the decisions of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals of this state." NRAP 5(a); see Volvo Cars of N. Am., Inc. v. Ricci, 122 Nev. 746, 749-51, 137 P.3d 1161, 1163-64 (2006). On September 20, 2019, this Court accepted the certified question. See Order Accepting Certified Question, Directing Briefing, and Directing Submission of Filing Fee.

# ROUTING STATEMENT

This case presents a question of law certified by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in *Nautilus Ins. Co. v. Access Medical*. Therefore,

jurisdiction is retained by the Supreme Court. NRAP 17(a)(6) ("The Supreme Court shall hear and decide . . . [q]uestions of law certified by a federal court.")

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

The Court has accepted certification of the following question:

Is an insurer entitled to reimbursement of costs already expended in defense of its insureds where a determination has been made that the insurer owed no duty to defend and the insurer expressly reserved its right to seek reimbursement in writing after defense has been tendered but where the insurance policy contains no reservation of rights?

See Order Accepting Certified Question, Directing Briefing and Directing Submission of Filing Fee.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The following statement is taken primarily, and with only limited editing, from the Order Certifying Question to the Nevada Supreme Court. Citations are added only for the Court's convenience, not to contradict the facts as stated in that order. The parties have included for the Court's convenience a Joint Appendix containing the full briefing before the Ninth Circuit relating to this issue. However, the information necessary to resolve this issue is included in this brief.

After a business partnership went sour, Ted Switzer filed a cross-complaint against Access Medical and Robert Clark Wood II (collectively "Insureds") in California state court. Jt. App'x, Vol. IV, p. 623-680. The cross-complaint included thirty-one causes of action against the Insureds, most of which the parties concede did not trigger a duty to defend. Included in those thirty-one claims was a purported claim for interference with prospective economic advantage, in which Switzer alleged that the Insureds interfered with relationships with hospitals with which Switzer "enjoyed a long-standing and mutually beneficial relationship."

Although never referenced in the cross-complaint, at some point an email written by Jacqueline Weide, a representative of Access Medical, was uncovered. Jt. App'x, Vol. II, p. 91. (In fact, the email was uncovered by Nautilus in the

<sup>1</sup> Citations to the joint appendix will include a page number, which refers to the "NV Sup Ct CQ – Joint Appendix00001" page numbering. This is to prevent any confusion, as many of the documents were previously numbered as exhibits in support of the briefing on this issue before the Ninth Circuit.

course of its coverage investigation). In the email, Weide advised one of the hospitals that Access Medical wanted to contract to sell spinal implants to them because the hospital's "Distributor in the California area is now banned from selling Alphatec implants." Switzer was the alleged Distributor.

Under the insurance policy, Nautilus was required to defend Insureds against "any suit seeking damages" because of a "personal and advertising injury," defined as "arising out of . . . [o]ral or written publication, in any manner, of material that slanders or libels a person or organization or disparages a person's or organization's goods, products or services." Jt. App'x, Vol. II, p. 91.

Nautilus agreed to defend Insureds under an express reservation of rights. In a May 19, 2014 letter, Nautilus reserved its right to disclaim coverage, withdraw from the defense, and obtain a reimbursement of defense fees following a determination that no potential for coverage existed. Insureds did not object to the payment of defense counsel invoices. Jt. App'x, Vol. II, p. 91. On October 2, 2014, Nautilus issued a supplemental reservation of rights letter again reserving the right to reimbursement of all attorneys' fees, expert fees, defense costs, indemnification payments, and other litigation-related expenses paid in connection with its defense of Access Medical and Wood. Jt. App'x, Vol. II, p. 104-117.

Nautilus continued to pay for Insureds' counsel for the next two years. In an April 5, 2016 letter, Nautilus again reserved the right to demand reimbursement of

defense costs. Nautilus continued to pay defense costs after the letter was sent. Jt. App'x, Vol. IV, p. 545.

In the meantime, on February 24, 2015, Nautilus sought a declaratory judgment in Nevada federal district court that Nautilus never had a duty to defend or indemnify Insureds. Jt. App'x, Vol. IV, p. 612-621. Nautilus filed a motion for partial summary judgment. The Nevada district court found that Nautilus's duty to defend under the policy was never triggered under Nevada law because Switzer's cross-complaint did not allege, and the Weide email did not contain, a false statement that would support a claim for defamation, libel, or slander under California law. Jt. App'x, Vol. I, p. 72-78. Therefore, the district court construed Nautilus's motion as one for full summary judgment, entered judgment in favor of Nautilus, and closed the case. Nautilus subsequently brought a motion for further relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2202 seeking reimbursement of defense costs incurred defending Insureds in the Switzer cross-complaint. Insureds filed a motion for reconsideration arguing that Nautilus had a duty to defend Insureds. The district court denied both motions in the same order. Jt. App'x, Vol. I, p. 60-66. On the reimbursement issue, the district court concluded Nautilus was not entitled to further relief because (1) Nautilus did not include a claim for reimbursement or damages in its complaint; (2) Nautilus did not show it was entitled to relief as a matter of law under § 2202; and (3) Nautilus did not establish it was entitled to

reimbursement under Nevada law. Jt. App'x, Vol. I, p. 60-66.

In a memorandum disposition of July 2, 2019, the Ninth Circuit affirmed the district court's determination that Nautilus did not owe a duty to defend Insureds and reserved judgment on whether Nautilus could seek further relief under § 2202, depending on whether Nautilus is entitled to reimbursement under Nevada law. Jt. App'x, Vol. VI, p. 1046.

Nautilus defended the Insureds for over three years—from May 19, 2014 through August 1, 2017, and only withdrew after the District of Nevada granted summary judgment in Nautilus's favor.

# **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

In its certification order, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals provided a factual background relevant to the certified question at issue. *See in re Fountainbleau Las Vegas Holdings, LLC*, 127 Nev. 941, 955, 267 P.3d 786, 794 (2011) ("The certifying court must include a statement of facts relevant to the question certified in its order certifying questions to this court.") (citation omitted). The Supreme Court of Nevada is "bound by the facts as stated in the certification order" and "cannot make findings of fact in responding to a certified question." *Id.* at 955-956. Thus, it is for this Court's ease of reference, not to contradict the Ninth Circuit, that Nautilus has provided the summary of the facts in the statement of the case.

#### **SUMMARY OF NAUTILUS'S ARGUMENT**

There is an implicit right to reimbursement of defense costs incurred in defending uncovered claims because insureds do not pay premiums for such a defense, and therefore are unjustly enriched. As discussed below, this position is consistent with Nevada's interpretation of insurance contracts in particular, and all contracts more generally. Nevada should also adopt this position because it incentivizes insurance companies to defend first and sort out coverage later, which both reduces the total cost to all parties and protects the insureds pending a coverage determination.

The majority of states to have ruled on this question, in particular California, allow for the recoupment of defense costs expended by the insurer in defending uncovered claims. *See Scottsdale Ins. Co. v. MV Transportation*, 115 P.3d 460, 468 (Cal. 2005), *Buss v. Superior Court*, 939 P.2d 766, 776–778 (Cal. 1997). This position is also endorsed by the Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment.

The District of Nevada and the Ninth Circuit have both made "*Erie* Predictions" that Nevada law would allow for the reimbursement of defense costs incurred in defending uncovered claims. *Forum Ins. Co. v. County of Nye, Nev.*, No. 91-16724, 1994 WL 241384, at \*2-3 (9th Cir. 1994) (unpublished disposition), *Probuilders Specialty Ins. Co. v. Double M. Const.*, 116 F.Supp.3d 1173, 1182

(D.Nev. 2015), Capitol Indem Corp. v. Blazer, 51 F.Supp.2d 1080, 1090-1091 (D.Nev. 1999).

This Court should follow the majority of jurisdictions which have examined this question and reach the decision that under Nevada law, there is a quasi-contractual right for an insurer to recoup defense fees and costs expended in defending uncovered claims.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. Nevada Already Upholds the Legitimacy of Unilateral Reservation of Rights Letters from the Insurer to the Insured

Liability insurance policies create a "cascading hierarchy of duties between the insurer and the insured." *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Miller*, 125 Nev. 300, 309, 212 P.3d 318, 324 (2009). At the top of this hierarchy are two duties owed by the insurer to the insured—the duty to indemnify and the duty to defend. *Miller*, 125 Nev. at 309, 212 P.3d at 324. The duty to defend arises whenever an insurer "ascertains facts which give rise to the potential of liability under the policy." *Century Surety Company v. Andrew*, 432 P.3d 180, 183, 134 Nev. Adv. Opp. 100, at \*822 (2018) (not yet published in 134 Nev., therefore hereafter all citations to only the Pacific Reports).

The duty to defend, although broad, is not absolute. *United National Ins. Co.* v. Frontier Ins. Co., 120 Nev. 678, 687, 99 P.3d 1153, 1158 (2004). There is no duty to defend when there is no theory where the facts fall within the coverage of

the insurance policy. *Andrew*, 432 P.3d at 184 n.4.

When an insurer receives a tender of defense, the insurer has three options: (1) deny the tender, (2) agree to defend without a reservation of rights, or (3) agree to defend with a reservation of rights. When the facts as alleged may or may not fall within the coverage of the policy, "[t]he insurer can always agree to defend the insured with the limiting condition that it does not waive any right to later deny coverage based on the terms of the insurance policy under a reservation of rights." Andrew, at 184, n.4. This reservation of rights is effective because the duty to defend is not permanent once triggered. The duty to defend arises when the potential for indemnification arises, but is extinguished when it is determined that there was never a potential for indemnification. Benchmark Ins. Co. v. Sparks, 127 Nev. 407, 412, 254 P.3d 617, 620-621 (2011). In fact, this Court has encouraged an insurer, when that insurer has doubts about coverage, to defend a suit against its insured under a reservation of rights and "seek to terminate [the] duty to defend" in another action. Andrew, 432 P.3d at 184, n.4. This Court in Andrew favorably cited a Washington case that summarizes the position succinctly: "If the insurer is uncertain of its duty to defend, it may defend under a reservation of rights and seek a declaratory judgment that it has no duty to defend." Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. 164 P.3d 454, 460 (Wash. 2007), cited with approval in Andrew, 432 P.3d at 184, n.4.

Nevada courts have found that unilateral reservations of rights letters are valid. See e.g. Havas v. Atl. Ins. Co., 96 Nev. 586, 586, 614 P.2d 1, 1 (1980); see also Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dept. v. Coregis Ins. Co., 127 Nev. 548, 553, 256 P.3d 958, 962, n.3 (2011). If an insured does not object to the reservation of rights, this Court has found that "silence can raise an estoppel quite as effectively as can words." NGA #2 Ltd. Liability Co. v. Rains, 113 Nev. 1151, 1160, 946 P.2d 163, 169 (1997). The enforceability of a unilateral reservation of rights letter makes the insurer's three choices upon receiving a tender of defense meaningful: the insurer has a middle ground between denying coverage on the one hand, and on the other accepting defense of a claim for which the parties did not bargain. See United National Ins. Co., 120 Nev. at 687, 99 P.3d at 1158.

# B. Nevada Should Therefore Adopt the Majority Position— Expounded by the California Supreme Court in *Buss*—Which Allows for Reimbursement

California law allows insurers to seek reimbursement of defense fees and costs expended in defending insureds for uncovered claims. *Buss v. Superior Court*. 939 P.2d 766 (Cal. 1997). When deciding novel issues of insurance law, this Court has often looked to decisions by the California Supreme Court for guidance. *See e.g. Federal Ins. Co. v. American Hardware Mut. Ins. Co.*, 124 Nev. 319, 327, 184 P.3d 390, 395 (2008); *Jackson v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co.*, 108 Nev. 504, 507-508, 835 P.2d 786, 789 (1992); *Commercial Standard Insurance* 

Co. v. Tab Construction, Inc., 94. Nev. 536, 539, 583 P.2d 449, 451 (1978); Eichacker v. Paul Reserve Life Ins. Co., 354 F.3d 1142, 1145 (9th Cir. 2004) ("[w]here Nevada law is lacking, its courts have looked to the law of other jurisdictions, particularly California, for guidance."). In particular, this Court has looked to California on the interpretation of the legal effect of a reservation of rights letter. See State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Hansen, 131 Nev. 743, 750, 357 P.3d 338, 342 (2015) (holding that a reservation of rights does not per se create a conflict of interest).

The seminal case providing an insurer with the right to reimbursement of defense costs incurred in defending an uncovered claim is *Buss v. Superior Court*. 939 P.2d 766 (Cal. 1997).<sup>2</sup> The California Supreme Court held in *Buss* that the law "clearly allows insurers to be reimbursed for attorney's fees and other expenses paid in defending insureds against claims for which there was no obligation to defend." *Id.*, 776–778 (internal quotations omitted).

In Buss, a complaint was filed by a third party against an insured asserting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The California Supreme Court in *Buss* examined a so-called "mixed" case, that is, an "action containing some claims covered or potentially covered by a liability insurance policy and others that are not." 16 *Couch on Insurance*, § 226:124 (June 2019 Update). In a non-mixed case, like this one, the finding of no coverage means the "duty to defend [did] not arise in the first instance" and the insurer incurred costs without any legal obligation to do so. *Scottsdale Ins. Co. v. MV Transportation*, 115 P.3d 460 (Cal. 2005). "[J]urisdictions that have allowed recoupment in mixed cases, where the ground for recoupment is weaker, almost certainly would allow recoupment in non-mixed cases . . . . Conversely, jurisdictions that have disallowed recoupment in mixed cases might still allow recoupment in a non-mixed case, because in the latter action the insurer did not have the legal obligation to defend at all." Restatement of the Law of Liability Insurance, § 21, Reporter's Note A.

27 causes of action of which only defamation fell within the coverage of the insurance policy. *Buss*, 939 P.2d at 769. The insurer accepted the defense, but reserved its right to reimbursement. *Id.* at 770. Ultimately, the insured settled the claim, and the insurer had paid over \$1 million in defense fees, of which only a portion was allocable to the defense of the defamation claim. *Id.* The California Supreme Court held that the insurer could not seek reimbursement for claims that were "at least potentially covered," but that an insurer could recover defense costs that were solely allocable to claims that were "not even potentially covered." *Id.* at 775-776.

In Scottsdale v. MV Transportation, plaintiff-insurer Scottsdale filed a declaratory relief action against its insured, a transportation company, to determine its duty to defend its insured in a suit between its insured and competitor. 115 P.3d 460, 463 (Cal. 2005). Scottsdale had accepted the defense of its insured pursuant to a reservation of rights, including the right to seek reimbursement. Id. The California Supreme Court ruled that Scottsdale had never had a duty to defend MV Transportation in the underlying action, and that Scottsdale was therefore entitled to reimbursement of the costs and expenses of defense advanced to the insured. Id. at 465. Specifically, the California Supreme Court held that the duty to defend is contractual, and that the insurer "has not contracted to pay defense costs for claims that are not even potentially covered." Id. at 466 (internal quotations omitted).

The California Supreme Court further held that an insurer "may unilaterally condition its proffer of a defense upon its reservation of right later to seek reimbursement of costs" which "permits the insured to decide whether to accept the insurer's terms for providing a defense, or instead to assume and control its own defense." *Id.* at 467.

The California Supreme Court rejected the underlying Court of Appeals' argument that an extinguishment of the duty to defend only relieves the duty to defend prospectively, and held instead that an insurer that properly reserves its rights "may obtain reimbursement of defense costs which, in hindsight, it never owed." *Id.* The court in *MV Transportation* distinguished between two different situations: (1) where the insurer proves through facts developed after the tender that the potential for coverage cannot materialize or no longer exists, and (2) where the insurer has shown that the duty to defend never arose in the first place. *Id.* at 468. In the second instance, where there *never was* a duty to defend, the insurer may properly seek reimbursement. *Id.* The California Supreme Court held that:

An insurer facing unsettled law concerning its policies' potential coverage of the third party's claims should not be forced either to deny a defense outright, and risk a bad faith suit by the insured, or to provide a defense where it owes none without any recourse against the insured for costs thus expended. The insurer should be free, in an abundance of caution, to afford the insured a defense under a reservation of rights, with the understanding that reimbursement is available if it is later established, as a matter of law, that no duty to defend ever arose.

#### *Id.* at 470. The *MV Transportation* Court noted as well that,

by requiring an insurer to risk bad faith liability if it declines a defense because of its belief that the third party claims are not potentially covered, or to forgo reimbursement if it elects to provide one, we would place the insurer in a Catch–22 and force it to furnish a defense, at its own expense, where none was ever owed under the policy.

*Id.* at 470, n.5.

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