**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

\* \* \*

NAUTILUS INSURANCE  
COMPANY,

Appellant,

v.

ACCESS MEDICAL, LLC  
ROBERT CLARK WOOD, II; AND  
FLOURNOY MANAGEMENT, LLC,

Respondents,

Electronically Filed  
Jan 22 2020 05:12 p.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No. 17-130

United States District Court,  
for the District of Nevada,  
Case No. 2:15-cv-00321

United States Court of Appeals for  
the Ninth Circuit  
Case Nos. 17-16265  
17-16272  
17-16273

---

**RESPONDENTS ACCESS MEDICAL, LLC AND ROBERT CLARK  
WOOD, II'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

---

JORDAN P. SCHNITZER (#10744)  
THE SCHNITZER LAW FIRM  
9205 W. Russell Road, Suite 240

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

## **II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

Nevada Public Policy and fundamental fairness support refusing to allow insurers to unilaterally change insurance contracts through reservation of rights letters.

The recent trend of states favors precluding insurers from recovering costs expended in defending uncovered claims unless the insurance policy contains an express provision allowing recoupment. Nevada should not allow insurers to amend insurance contracts unilaterally through reservation of rights letters. This rule is especially applicable when the insurance policy contains an express provision regarding policy amendments prohibiting modification through reservation of rights letters.

Standard Policy Language, including the policy at issue here, expressly state in plain and unambiguous language that insurers will bear all fees and costs incurred

in suits they defend. Nevada public policy favors construing insurance contracts to meet the reasonable expectations of the layperson, the insured, which would mean precluding recoupment actions. There can be no implicit right to reimbursement of defense costs when the policy explicitly states the insurer will bear fees and costs in cases it chooses to defend.

Nevada should adopt the default rule of the Restatement of Liability Insurance that insurers cannot seek reimbursement for fees and costs incurred in defending a suit when a court later determined there was no coverage under the policy absent an express policy provision.

### **III. ARGUMENT**

#### **A. Nevada Public Policy Favors Common Law Adopting the Default Rule as Detailed in the Restatement of Liability Insurance Prohibiting Recoupment Absent a Specific Policy Provision Allowing Recoupment.**

- 1. The Duty to Defend is an Expansive Contractual Obligation Intended to Meet the Reasonable Expectations of Insureds by Helping Them Proceed Through the Litigation Process*

A liability insurance policy creates a hierarchy of contractual duties. *Allstate v. Miller*, 125 Nev. 300, 309 (2009) The primary duties of an insurer are the duty to defend (*i.e.*, liability insurance) and the duty to indemnify (*i.e.*, pay claims). *Id.* This arrangement, chosen by insurers, subjects them to various consequences that stem not only from their power over insureds, but also from their ability to dictate

the insurance policy, and its language, on their terms. *Gray v. Zurich Ins. Co.*, 419 P.2d 168, 171 (Cal. 1966).

An insurance policy creates two contractual duties between the insurer and the insured: the duty to indemnify and the duty to defend. *Miller*, 125 Nev. at 309. An insurer's duty to defend is contractual in nature. *Id.* The insurer's duty to defend is, by definition "separate from and broader than the duty to indemnify. *Century Sur. Co. v. Andrew*, 124 Nev. Adv. Op 100 at 6 (citing 1 Barry R. Ostrager & Thomas R. Newman, *Handbook on Insurance Coverage Disputes* §5.02[a], at 327 (17th ed. 2015) (internal quotation marks omitted in original).

The duty to indemnify provides insureds financial protection against judgments. The duty to defend protects insureds from the financial burden of litigation. *Id.* The insured pays a premium with the expectation that insurers will defend "if facts [in a lawsuit] are alleged which if proved would give rise to the duty to indemnify." *Id.* at 7 (citing *Rockwood Ins. Co. v. Federated Capital Corp.*, 694 F. Supp. 772, 776 (D. Nev. 1988).

If there is any doubt as to whether the insurer must defend, the doubt should be resolved in the insured's favor. *United Nat'l Ins. Co. v. Frontier Ins. Co.*, 120 Nev. 678, 687 (2004). Even a failure to provide a defense under the erroneous belief there is no coverage is wrongful. *Howard v. Nat'l Fire Ins. Co.*, 115 Cal. Rptr. 3d 42, 69 (Cal. Ct. App. 2010).

The duty to defend gives the insurer the right to control litigation against the insured. *Miller*, 125 Nev. at 309. The right to control litigation creates the contractual duty to defend insureds from lawsuits that contain any allegations that fall within the scope of the policy's insurance coverage. *Id.* This Court recently clarified that an insurer cannot look to facts beyond a Complaint for justification to deny its duty to defend. *Andrew* 134 Nev. Adv. Op at 7 n.4. An insurer's duty to defend commences upon notice of a demand against the insured. *Miller*, 125 Nev. at 309.

In Nevada, an insurer has an ***absolute duty*** to defend an action brought against its insured that potentially seeks damages within the coverage of the policy, even if the claims are false, fraudulent, or unprovable. *Rockwood Ins. Co.*, 694 F. Supp. 772, 776 (D. Nev. 1988).

One of the reasons why the duty to defend is so broad is because it applies not only to claims for which an insured is likely liable but also to claims for which an insured may potentially be found liable. *Id.* The duty to defend is defined so expansively to meet the objectives and expectations of the insured. *Id.* In *Gray*, a California Court explained the duty as follows:

When we test the instant policy by these principles, we find that its provisions as to the obligation to defend are uncertain and undefined; ***in light of the reasonable expectation of the insured, they require performance of that duty.*** At the threshold we note that the nature of the

obligation to defend is itself uncertain. Although insurers have often insisted that the duty arises only if the insurer is bound to indemnify the insured, this very contention creates a dilemma. No one can determine whether the third party suit does or does not fall within the indemnification coverage of the policy until that suit is resolved...[.] The carrier's obligation to indemnify inevitably will not be defined until the adjudication of the very action which it should have defended. ***Hence the policy contains its own seeds of uncertainty; the insurer has held out a promise that by its very nature is ambiguous.***

*Gray* 419 P.2d at 173 (emphasis added).

Nevada, like California, construes insurance contracts to achieve the reasonable expectations of the insureds. *Powell v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co.*, 127 Nev. 156, 162 (2011). This interpretation derives from the fact that insurers have reserved unto themselves the exclusive power to manage and control the litigation and settle third-party claims. Insured have essentially no input into this reserved power decision-making. As such, insurers understand that insureds' reasonable expectation is that the insurer will defend even if the claim is baseless, false, or even fraudulent unless litigation is irrefutably beyond the scope of the policy. *Rockwood*, 694 F. Supp. at 776. To hold otherwise would allow insurers to profit from their superior bargaining position to the detriment of their insureds and the public. Insurers alone must face the uncertainties that arise from insurance policies they unilaterally drafted, and insurers are better equipped to deal with uncertainties by design:

The insured is unhappily surrounded by concentric circles of uncertainty: the first, the unascertainable nature of the insurer's duty to defend; the second, the unknown effect of the provision that the insurer must defend even a groundless, false, or fraudulent claim; the third, the uncertain extent of the indemnification coverage. Since we must resolve uncertainties in favor of the insured and interpret the policy provisions according to the layman's reasonable expectations, and since the effect of the exclusionary clause is neither conspicuous, nor plain, nor clear, we hold that in the present case, the policy provides for an obligation to defend...

*Gray*, 419 P.2 at 174-75.

The duty to defend is of critical importance to insureds because most individuals and businesses have never been through the litigation process. Insureds look to insurers to protect their interests from the time the insured receives a demand through the completion of litigation. Insurers, in turn, protect their, and the insureds', interest by selecting competent counsel to oversee the insureds' defense throughout the litigation, approve and hire expert witnesses, and pay the costs of litigation. *Griffin Dewatering Corp. v. N. Ins. Co. of N.Y.*, 97 Cal. Rptr. 3d 568, 586 (Cal. Ct. App. 2009).

The lack of resolution regarding coverage (i.e. duty to indemnify) does not absolve an insurer of its duty to provide a defense to its insured. *United States Fire Ins. Co. v. Green Bay Packaging, Inc.*, 66 F. Supp. 2d 987, 995 (E.D. Wis. 1999). This result is justified because insurers' failure to provide a defense places the

unsophisticated insured at a significant disadvantage that can be disastrous to both the insured and insurer.

As a professional litigant with significant expertise and considerable power in litigating liability claims, liability insurers know that the scope of their duty to defend is broad. A contracting party with this level of power and sophistication does not need the benefit of a special rule allowing it to tilt the scales further and unilaterally revise the policy through a reservation of rights letter.

2. *The Restatement of Liability Insurance's Recommended Default Rule*

Justice Douglas cited to the Restatement of Liability Insurance when this Court clarified that an insurer could not consider facts outside the Complaint in making a determination to deny the duty to defend. *See Andrew*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 100 n. 4. This Court should again adopt the rule recommended by the Restatement regarding an insured's protection from a recoupment action. The Restatement provides as follows on the issue of recoupment:

**§ 21. Insurer Recoupment of the Costs of Defense**

**Unless otherwise stated in the insurance policy or otherwise agreed to by the insured, an insurer may not seek recoupment of defense costs from the insured, even when it is subsequently determined that the insurer did not have a duty to defend or pay defense costs.**

RESTATEMENT OF LIABILITY INSURANCE § 21 (Am. Law Inst., Proposed Final Draft No. 2, 2018).

The Restatement recognizes that precluding recoupment absent a specific policy provision allowing recoupment as the emerging state-court majority rule. The restatement contradicts the claim by *Nautilus* and *Amici Curiae* that the rule as adopted by the *Buss* court is the majority rule. *Id.* at cmt. a p. 183. The Restatement rule is there is no right to recoupment of defense costs as the default rule for insurance policies because:

the duty to defend includes the obligation to defend the insured from all of the causes of action and remedies sought in the action, including those not covered by the liability insurance policy, the insurer has a contractual duty to defend the entire action whenever the action includes a potentially covered cause of action. Similarly, any time an insurer is defending under a reservation of rights because of a *factual* uncertainty related to a ground for contesting coverage, courts generally agree the insurer has a contractual duty to defend until that duty is terminated [through a declaratory relief action].

*Id.* at 182-83. The Restatement follows the emerging majority that the law precludes recoupment unless the insurer states the right in the insurance policy or is otherwise agreed to by the parties. The reasoning behind the rule, at least in part, is that the insurer should present its desire for recoupment in a setting where the transaction costs were minimal and the parties had the time and the inclination to reach a bargain. *Id.* at 183.

The Restatement provides several bases for recoupment preclusion as the default and more sensible rule:

First, the default rule followed in this Section would likely result in lower overall litigation costs than would the alternative rule of recoupment. For example, in cases involving covered and noncovered causes of action, under a recoupment rule there would often have to be a subsequent litigation over the question whether, or to what extent, the defense costs were incurred by the insurer in connection with noncovered causes of action. The rule followed in this Section entails no such secondary litigation. Second, because this rule is merely a default, if it turns out the recoupment rule would be relatively easy to administer or that the costs justify the expense, insurers can incorporate an express right of recoupment in their policies. Third, situating the right to recoupment in the insurance policy carries significant advantages; it puts the legal basis of the insurer's entitlement beyond dispute, and it specifies the contours of that entitlement in advance of a dispute, making it easier to evaluate for all parties concerned. Fourth, a default rule of no recoupment places the burden of contracting around the rule on the party best able to do so.

*Id.* at 183-84.

Nautilus' choice not to insert a recoupment provision in the policy acquires contractual significance under the Restatement's default rule. The Restatement further proffers that recognizing the insurer has made a choice not to insert a recoupment provision into the policy brings the default rule within the principle of disfavoring the use of unjust enrichment when the parties are in a position to address the issues by contract. *Id.* at 184. The risk of defending a noncovered legal action is a known uncertainty the insurer can address in the insurance contract, as is

frequently done in many other types of policies such as “Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance policies. *Id.*

3. *Sound Public Policy and Fundamental Fairness Weigh in Favor of Precluding Recoupment Absent an Express Policy Provision*

Nevada construes insurance contracts to achieve the reasonable expectations of the insured. *Powell*, 127 Nev. at 162. This interpretation is necessary because insurers have reserved unto themselves the exclusive power to manage and control the litigation and settle third-party claims. Insureds, often unsophisticated and unaware of the substantial details of a complex liability insurance policy, have virtually no input into this reserved power decision-making. To allow recoupment would allow insurers to profit from their superior bargaining position to the detriment of their insureds. Therefore, insurers understand that the insureds’ reasonable expectation is insureds will not face further litigation as a result of the insurers’ choice to exercise their right and duty to defend the insureds in litigation should it later be determined there was no duty to defend. It would be an error to assume Access, and other insureds, did not purchase the right *not to face a recoupment action* when purchasing the policy.

In *Gen. Agents Ins. Co. v. Midwest Sporting Goods Co.* (hereafter “*Gainsco*”), the Illinois Supreme Court declined to follow *Buss*, embracing the position that refuses “to allow an insurer to receive reimbursement of its defense costs even

though the underlying claim was not covered by the insurance policy and the insurer had specifically reserved its right to reimbursement.” 828 N.E.2d 1092, 1101 (Ill. 2005).

The *Gainsco* Court found that allowing recoupment absent an insurance policy provision authorizing it was equivalent “to allowing the insurer to extract a unilateral amendment to the insurance contract.” 828 N.E.2d at 1102 (quoting *Shoshone First Bank v. Pac. Emp’rs Ins. Co.*, 2 P.3d 510, 516 (Wyo. 2000) and *Am. States Ins. Co. v. Ridco, Inc.*, Civ. No. 95CV158D, 1996 WL 33401184, at 2 (D. Wyo. Feb. 8, 1996). An insurer cannot reserve a right not in the policy. *Gainsco*, 828 N.E.2d at 1103 (citing *First Ins. Co. v. State*, 665 P.2d 648, 654 (Haw. 1983)).

Litigation surrounding an insurer’s right to reimbursement of defense costs has been active for more than twenty years. See 1-7 RANDY MANILOFF & JEFFREY STEMPEL, GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE COVERAGE: KEY ISSUES IN EVERY STATE § 7 (3d e. 2015). By way of specific example, the *Buss* decision was issued in 1997. The questions certified to this Court arises from a dispute centering around a policy issued from January 15, 2011, through January 15, 2012. Jt. App’x Vol. IV p.684. As such, Nautilus knew for more than twelve years of the potential for a suit arising against the Insureds where Nautilus would not be sure enough about its coverage decision to outright deny coverage with no risk, before issuing the policy at issue;

Nautilus had twelve years where it could have inserted a right to recoupment provision into its standard liability insurance language. Rather than proactively resolve this dispute, Nautilus now attempts to sandbag the Insureds nearly ten years after the Insureds purchased the policy with an additional policy premium of more than \$500,000.

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